
 
 

Chowan County Board of Commissioners 
SPECIAL MEETING 

Monday, January 6, 2025 
Chowan County Public Safety Center 

305 West Freemason Street 
4:30 pm 

 
AGENDA 

The Chowan County Board of Commissioners will hold a special meeting on Monday, January 6, 2025 at 
4:30pm before the regular 6pm meeting. The special meeting at 4:30pm will be held in the Chowan County 
Public Safety Center (305 West Freemason St. Edenton, NC).  
 
The purpose of this special meeting will be a closed session to meet in accordance with NCGS 143-318-11 
(a) (4 and 5) economic development and contract negotiations.   
The regular meeting at 6:00pm will follow.  

 
 

Chowan County Board of Commissioners 
Regular Meeting 

Monday, January 6, 2025 
Chowan County Public Safety Center 

305 West Freemason Street 
6:00pm 

 
AGENDA 

Regular Meeting 
  

a. Call to Order  
b. Pledge   
c. Invocation  Commissioner Taylor 

 
1. Approval of Draft Agenda 

 
2. Public Comment 
In accordance with NCGS 153A-52.1 The Board will allow a maximum of 3 minutes per speaker during 
the Public Comment Period. 

3. Consent Agenda  
All items on the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine and may be enacted by one motion. If a 
County Commissioner requests discussion on an item, the item will be removed from the Consent 
Agenda and considered separately. 

a. Minutes 
Minutes of the November 12, 2024 Special Meeting, November 18, 2024 Regular and Special 
Meetings, November 25, 2024 Joint Meeting, December 2, 2024 Regular Meeting and the 
December 5, 2024 Opioid Settlement Funds Committee Meeting. 
 
 
 



 
 
 

b. 2025 Commissioner Committee Appointments 
The Board will accept the 2025 Committee Appointments from the Chair. 
 

c. Tax Refunds and Releases 
Eason, A.  $100  Overpayment 
Prescott, E.  $3,385.73 Paid Twice 
 
 

4. JA Holmes High School Change Order 
Representatives from MB Khan will present the Board with a request for approval of a change order 
for technology package at John A. Holmes High School. 
 

5. DSS Stipend Request 
DSS Director Tyeshia Phelps will present the Board with a request for approval to offer a stipend to a 
current employee  who will over the next 3-6 months serve and train as Interim Administrative 
Officer. The stipend will be $698.94 per month and will be funded with lapsed salary. 
 

6. Elections Annual Report 
Elections Director Kristi Nixon will provide the Board with the annual report from the Elections 
Office. 
 

7. R/O Plant Test Well Site Purchase Approval 
Previously the Board authorized the County Manager to negotiate the purchase of properties for the 
R/O test well sites. The Board will formally approve the following purchases: 
 
Address    Purchase Price 
619 Poplar Neck Rd.    $33,281.64 
301 Poplar  Neck Rd.   $28,673.93 
627 Haughton Rd.   $161,455.62 
 

8. Appointments 
 
DSS Board 
It is recommended that the Board appoint Alex Kehayes to fill the unexpired term previously held by 
Tony Shaffer. 
 
Recreation Advisory Board 
It is recommended that the Board reappoint Gary Roth to the Rec Advisory Board. 
 
ARCD 
In 2024 ARCD Board amended its bylaws to reduce its membership to one appointee from each of 
the 10 member counties. Previously Chowan held four appointment seats on this Board. It is 
recommended that the Board reappoint Fenton Eure as Chowan County’s appointee to the ARCD 
Board.  

 
Senior Tarheel Legislature 
It is recommended that Brenda Lawrence be appointed as the alternate representative for Chowan 
County on the Senior Tarheel Legislature. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

9. Financial Items 
Finance Officer Cathy Smith will present the following: 

 
a. Current Fiscal Year Budget Amendments 

2025-030 
2025-031 
2025-032 
2025-033 
2025-034 
2025-035 
2025-036 
2025-037 
2025-038 
2025-039 
2025-040 
 

10. External Board/Committee Report 
Board members are asked to report on the activities of the external boards to which they have been 
appointed. 
 

11. Manager’s Report 
County Manager Kevin Howard will update the Board on any pending matters. 
 

12. Timely and Important Matters 
 

13. Adjourn 



Special Meeting 
Tuesday November 12, 2024  

4:00pm 
Chowan County Public Safety Center 

305 West Freemason St. 
Edenton, NC 

Present: Chairman Bob Kirby, Commissioners, Ellis Lawrence, Larry McLaughlin,   Chris Evans 
and Ron Cummings. 
 
Commissioners Alex Kehayes and Tray Taylor were absent. 
 
Commissioner Elect Tony Shaffer was also present. 
 
Staff present County Manager Kevin Howard, Finance Officer Cathy Smith and Board Clerk 
Susanne Stallings . 

This meeting was recorded. A copy of the recording is in the meeting file labeled November 12, 
2024. 
 
Call to Order 
Chairman Bob Kirby called the special meeting to order. 
 
County Manager Kevin Howard noted to the Board that the Water Department Director, David 
Tawes has announced his retirement effective December 31, 2024.  He introduced Scott 
Godefroy and Kevin Cooper with Rivers and Associates to present the Board with the Water 
System User Charge System final report. 
 
Mr. Godefroy provided a PowerPoint presentation. A copy of the PowerPoint and final report are 
in the meeting file labeled November 12, 2024. 
 
Mr. Godefroy reviewed the User Charge System Study noting the purpose of the study is to 
determine the necessary water rates to fund ongoing operations of the water system and to 
respond to future changes in the operations and water demands. He reviewed the survey of 
stakeholders that include Commissioners, Water Department Staff, County Finance and Admin 
staff and County residents.  He reviewed the rating sheets that were provided by the stakeholders 
at that time (November 2023).  He noted that the next step was review of the County’s financial 
history, revenue requirements and debt service. He noted the current rates for 0-2,000 gallons is 
$14, each additional 1,000 is $7 and sprinklers per head is $0.08. He noted the current 
methodology charges users per 1,000 gallons.  He reviewed the pros of the current methodology 
noting it is easy to understand, is transparent and all customers pay the same which is equality. 
He noted the cons to the current methodology includes a base usage of 2,000 gallons which is 
equal but no equitable and does not distinguish between fixed costs and variable costs. He 
provided an overview of the user charge system methodology as prepared by Rivers and 
Associates. He stated this is not a schedule of suggested rates for the next few years and noted 
that it is not a simple calculator. He stated it is transparent and is a systematic equitable method 
to calculating user rates. He stated this would address the concerns of the stakeholders from the 



group survey. He noted this method is adapted by the American Waterworks Association Manual 
1, Principles of Water Rates, Fees and Charges. 
 
Mr. Cooper reviewed the User Charge System Methodology and the formulas used to determine 
the rates. The formulas contained Alternate A and Alternate B scenarios for rate calculations. He 
noted that a Water Flow Data Analysis would be needed. He noted that the current net water 
produced in Chowan County (including backwash water) is 399,419,000 gallons per year. He 
noted the total water billed is 212,790,000. He noted that monies in Capital Reserve as well as 
Water Fund Budget would need to be input into the spreadsheet to determine the budgeted 
expenditures from the Water Fund. Additionally, he reviewed information on review of budgeted 
non use related revenue such as feeds for taps, interest revenue. He noted the next table would 
calculate production and consumption costs. He reviewed slides that detailed fixed and variable 
expense distribution. He noted that equality and equity are defined differently in regard to water 
systems. He noted the current system for billing is equal but not equitable.  He stated that ideally 
all users would be charged the same rate that is specific to their own meter and usage patterns 
however this would be time consuming and unrealistic to implement. He stated another industry 
standard approach is to utilize meter size equivalencies.  He noted that larger meters can draw 
greater instantaneous flows than smaller meter sizes.  He noted they are served by larger 
diameter water mains and the infrastructure in place to serve them is more expensive.  He stated 
that consequently the “readiness to serve” larger meters with fixed costs for these users is 
inherently higher. He provided tables with an Alternate A (without consideration for meter size) 
and Alternate B (with consideration for meter size). He noted that both Alternate A and Alternate 
B both take into consideration fixed and variable costs. Both have revenue stability via a base 
rate that does not included minimum usage. He stated both are relatively competitive to similar 
systems even with implementation of the capital reserve fund. He noted future considerations 
should include capital improvements reserve, irrigation systems, fire suppression systems, water 
loss and price elasticity ratio. 
 
Board members expressed their concerns over the implications of each alternate model. Board 
members noted that some customers may not wish to have larger meters.  
 
Mr. Howard noted that it is important to bill closer to the amount of water produced and what is 
billed to customers. 
 
Reverse Osmosis Pilot Plant Update 
Mr. Godefroy provided an update noting that all test well phase reports have been submitted to 
DEQ.  He noted the pilot plant is operational and running. He stated that after three months 
another report will be submitted to DEQ.  He noted they are working on the dilution plant 
(CORE Mix model) He noted this has not yet been reviewed by DEQ and once approvals are 
received then studies in the sound will begin.  
 
Chair Kirby asked what was the projected time frame for earliest construction of the R/O plant. 
 
Mr. Godefroy stated 2026 or 2027.  
 



Mr. Howard reviewed the estimated project cost is $62 million. He noted that the state has 
provided a grant in the amount of $29,550,000, $400,000 has been set aside from ARPA funds 
and another $1 million will be used from ARPA funds. He stated the County is looking at 
possibly borrowing $31 million from USDA to complete the project. 
 
Next Steps 
Mr. Howard stated the next step is to review this report in more detail at the retreat in February 
or March of 2025.  
 
Mr. Godefroy stated that grant opportunities would look at the project more favorably if the 
water rates are raised. 
 
Adjourn 
Commissioner Evans moved to adjourn. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed 
unanimously (5-0). 
 
 
 
_______________________________________  ______________________________ 
Bob Kirby, Chairman      Susanne Stallings   
        Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





Special Meeting 
Monday November 18, 2024  

5:00pm 
Chowan County Public Safety Center 

305 West Freemason St. 
Edenton, NC 

Present: Chairman Bob Kirby, Commissioners, Ellis Lawrence, Ron Cummings,   Chris Evans 
and Alex Kehayes. 
 
Commissioners Larry McLaughlin and Tray Taylor were absent. 
 
Staff present County Manager Kevin Howard, Finance Officer Cathy Smith, County Attorney 
Lauren Arizaga-Womble (by phone) and Board Clerk Susanne Stallings . 

 
Closed Session 
Commissioner Evans moved to go into closed session in accordance with NCGS 143-318-11 (a) 
(3) attorney client. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (5-0). 
 
The minutes of the closed session are sealed. 
 
Commissioner Kehayes moved to come out of closed session. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, 
the motion passed unanimously (5-0). 
 
Adjourn 
Commissioner Evans moved to adjourn. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed 
unanimously (5-0). 
 
 
 
_______________________________________  ______________________________ 
Bob Kirby, Chairman      Susanne Stallings   
        Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Chowan County Board of Commissioners 
Regular Meeting 

Monday, November 18, 2024 
Chowan County Public Safety Center 

305 West Freemason Street 
6:00pm 

 
 
This meeting was recorded. A copy of the recording is in the meeting file labeled November 18, 
2024. 
 
Present: Chairman Bob Kirby, Commissioners, Ellis Lawrence, Chris Evans, Tray Taylor, Ron 
Cummings, and Alex Kehayes. 
 
Absent: Commissioner Larry McLaughlin. 
 
Staff present County Manager Kevin Howard and Board Clerk Susanne Stallings and Finance 
Officer Cathy Smith. 

 
Regular Meeting 
Chair Kirby called the regular meeting to order and led in the pledge.   
 
Commissioner Cummings then offered the invocation. 
 
Approval of Agenda  
Board Clerk Susanne Stallings noted the request for the addition of item 8a to the agenda.  A 
change order for the Courthouse renovation project.  
 
Commissioner Kehayes moved to approve the agenda as amended.  
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
Public Comment 
Chair Kirby opened the floor for public comment. 
 
There was none. 
  
Consent Agenda  
All items on the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine and may be enacted by one 
motion. If a County Commissioner requests discussion on an item, the item will be removed 
from the Consent Agenda and considered separately. 

 
a. Minutes  

The Board will review and consider approval of the October 30, 2024 Joint 
Planning Board meeting and the November 4, 2023 Regular and Special Meetings  

 



Commissioner Cummings moved to approve the consent agenda as presented. Chair Kirby asked 
for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
FY 2023-24 Audit Report 
Austin Eubanks, the County’s Auditor with Thompson, Price, Scott, Adams and Co. formally 
presented the FY 2023-24 Independent Audit with financial statements and answer questions 
from the Board. 
 

 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 
 



 

 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 
A full copy of the PowerPoint presentation as well as the audited financial statements are in the 
meeting file labeled November 18, 2024. 
 
Commissioner Lawrence asked about the deficiencies reported in the audit. 
 



Mr. Eubanks stated that most counties have these types of findings. He stated that the turn over is 
a concern however there is little cost associated with these issues. 
 
Chair Kirby asked if a 60% fund balance is excessive. 
 
Mr. Eubanks stated that Counties have to have funds available for hurricane response. He stated 
it is good to have these funds available for emergency situations. 
 
Ms. Smith noted that even though the audit does not consider this, some of these funds have been 
committed in the budget such as COA capital outlay.  
 
Chair Kirby stated he felt this information is important to relay to the public in the news 
coverage of the meetings.  He stated that some residents have been critical of the County’s 
reserves. He stated that one big hurricane would wipe out these funds and it has shown in other 
areas it is often several days before FEMA responds with funding. 
 
Chair Kirby thanked staff for the good work and an outstanding audit. He commended the 
prompt work of the audit firm for getting the report completed in a timely manner. 
 
Annual Report 
Co-Director Shannon Ray provided the Board with the annual reports from Senior Center and 
Recreation Departments. A copy of the presentation is in the meeting file labeled November 18, 
2024. 
 
NCACC – Essentials of County Government - Commissioner Elect Shaffer 
Ms. Stallings noted that it is recommended that the Board authorize the Clerk to register 
Commissioner Elect Tony Shaffer for training and accommodations so that he may attend the 
NCACC 2025 Essentials of County Government (also known as new Commissioner Training) 
which will be held in New Bern in January 2025. 
 
Commissioner Taylor moved to authorize the expenditure. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the 
motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
Financial Items 
Finance Officer Cathy Smith presented the following: 

 
FY25 Budget Amendments 
BA2025-024 
 



 

*Preservation/Automation 786.68                     
*Dept Supplies - Auto/Pres 262.23                   
*Contr Svcs - Automation/Pres 262.23                   
*C/O - Auto / Pres 262.22                   

*KIDS & COPS 50.00                       
*KIDS & COPS Expense 50.00                     

*Donations - Chowan 1,046.30                 
*Donations - Perquimans 256.55                     
*Donations - Other 1,287.49                 
*Donation - Expense 2,590.34               
*Adoption - Chowan 775.00                     
*Adoption - Gates 125.00                     
*Adoption - Perquimans 470.45                     
*Adoption - Other 972.45                     
*Contr Svcs - Spay/Neuter 2,342.90               

*SHIIP Grant (Senior Health Insurance 
Information Program) 50.00                       
*SHIIP Grant (Senior Health Insurance 
Information Program) 50.00                     
*AG Program Fees Discretionary 2,216.16                 
*Ag Program Fees Discretionary 2,216.16               
*4-H Fees Discretionary 5,562.00                 
*4-H Fees Discretionary 5,562.00               
*ECA Discretionary (Extension Community 
Association) 20.00                       
*ECA Discretionary (Extension Community 
Association) 20.00                     

*Recreation Donations 3,150.00                 
*Donations - Dept Supplies 3,150.00               
*Recreation Special Events 900.00                     
*Recreation Special Events 900.00                   

*Reg Fees - Trips 2,057.00                 
*TRIPS - Senior Citizens 2,057.00               
*Registration Fees Activities 335.00                     
*Activities - Dept. Supplies 335.00                   
*Silver Sneakers 867.00                     
*Silver & Fit 168.00                     
*Renew Active 609.00                     
*Healthways 1,644.00               
*Donations - Fitness 189.00                     
*Donations - Fitness 189.00                   

*DSS Special Events 687.00                     
*DSS Special Events 687.00                   

Balanced 22,580.08               22,580.08             

Total Discretionary Income Received FYE 2025 120,372.68            

Justification:

Register of Deeds
11-3418-415-00
11-4180-298-00
11-4180-440-00
11-4180-511-00

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

11-3431-243-00
11-4317-443-00

Sheriff's Office

Animal Shelter
11-3438-894-00
11-3438-894-02
11-3438-894-03
11-4381-600-00
11-3438-895-00
11-3438-895-01
11-3438-895-02
11-3438-895-03
11-4381-441-00

11-3495-370-00
11-4953-440-00

Cooperative Ext:

11-3495-363-00

11-4950-600-00

11-3495-380-00

11-4953-450-00

11-3495-378-00
11-4953-448-00

Recreation
11-3612-487-00
11-6130-299-01

Senior Center

11-3612-504-00
11-6132-453-00

11-3616-535-05
11-3616-535-06
11-4268-352-02
11-3616-535-01
11-4268-352-01

11-3616-533-00
11-4268-312-00
11-3616-533-01
11-4268-299-01
11-3616-535-04

12-3531-230-14
12-5310-450-00

To amend the 2025 budget to include Discretionary income for October 2024.

DSS



 
BA2025-025 

 
 
Commissioner Lawrence moved to approve the budget amendments as presented. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
Update on JA Holmes Highschool Project Expenses 
A copy of the report is in the meeting file labeled November 18, 2024. 
Additionally, Ms. Smith provided the Board with an updated report on the change orders 
approved to date. This is also in the November 18, 2024 meeting file. 
 

External Board/Committee Report 
Chair Kirby noted that the ECP Board is meeting and discussing several exciting projects that are 
in the works. He stated that more information will be forth coming. 
 
Change Order for Courthouse Renovation Project 
Mr. Howard noted that a change order for the project is coming soon. He stated this is for the 
Clerk of Court office area. He stated that he is requesting permission to approve the change 
order.  He requested approval for the change to be up to $75,000 however he hoped it would not 
be over $50,000. 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to grant the manager authority to approve the project change order 
when it is presented not to exceed $75,000 to keep the project on schedule. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
Manager’s Report 
County Manager Kevin Howard provided the following updates: 
 

Fund Balance Appropriated 32,838.00               

PARTF Grant - Bennett's Millpond - Rev 131,351.00            
PARTF Grant - Bennett's Millpond - Exp 164,189.00          

Balanced 164,189.00            164,189.00          

Justification:

11-3390-990-00

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Fund Balance

11-3612-496-01
11-6132-441-01

Recreation

To amend the budget for Recreation to include the PARTF - Accessible 
Parks Project grant for Bennett's Millpond.  Grant application (and 

local match) was approved by BOCC on 03/04/24.



- The high school construction project is on schedule, a change order should be coming 
to the Commissioners soon for technology equipment for the auditorium. 

 
Timely and Important Matters 
Ms. Smith noted that Board members are asked to see her after the  meeting to sign the audit 
response letter. 
 
Adjourn 
Being no further business, Commissioner Evans moved that the meeting be adjourned. Chair 
Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 
 
 

 

 
_______________________________________  ______________________________ 
Bob Kirby, Chairman      Susanne Stallings, Clerk 

 

 



Chowan County Board of Commissioners and Edenton Town Council 
Special Joint Meeting 

Monday, November 25, 2024 
Chowan County Public Safety Center 

305 West Freemason Street 
5:30pm  

 
 
This meeting was recorded. A copy of the recording is in the meeting file labeled November 25, 
2024. 
 
Commissioners Present: Chair Bob Kirby, Commissioners Ellis Lawrence, Alex Kehayes and 
Tray Taylor,  Ron Cummings, Larry McLaughlin and Chris Evans. 
 
Town Council Members Present: Elton Bond, Craig Miller, Aaron Coston, Bob Turner, Hackney 
High (Mayor) and Patrick Sellers. 
 
Town Council Member Absent: Samuel Dixon. 
 
County Staff present County Manager Kevin Howard Board Clerk Susanne Stallings and County 
Attorney Lauren Arizaga-Womble 
 
Town Staff present Tammy Woodley, Town Manager Corey Gooden and Town Attorney Hood 
Ellis. 
 
Mayor  Hackney High welcomed all in attendance and called the Edenton Town Council to 
order. 
 
Chairman Bob Kirby also welcomed all in attendance and called the Board of Commissioners to 
order. 
 
Mayor Hackney High provided a history of the monument and memorial to the Confederate 
Dead. He stated that in 2020 the Town Council created a Commission to discuss what to do with 
the confederate monument located at the foot of South Broad Street on Town property.  He 
stated that the Council accepted a recommendation from the commission to relocate the 
monument.  He stated that at that point a civil action was initiated by a group in opposition to 
relocation of the monument.  He stated the court issued a restraining order for the Town which 
remains in effect.  He stated the Town has worked along with the County to develop a solution to 
move the monument and place it in a suitable location where the suit would be dismissed.  He 
stated that the County has agreed to accept the Confederate monument and permit it to be 
relocated to the grounds of the current Chowan County Courthouse. He stated that the United 
Daughters of the Confederacy and other Plaintiffs in the civil action now pending against the 
Town have approved this Memorandum of Understanding & Agreement and agreed to enter into 
a Consent Judgment with the Town concluding the pending action on the basis of this 
Memorandum of Understanding & Agreement without any further claims or relief. He stated that 



the Town and County are there to consider approval of a Memorandum of Understanding and 
Agreement that is subject to the following covenants which he then read into the record: 
 

1. Within thirty (30) days of the entry of a Consent Judgment in the civil action (file 22-
CVS-98 Chowan County Superior Court United Daughters of the Confederacy v. 
Town of Edenton) dissolving and removing the existing Restraining Order on the 
basis of this Memorandum of Understanding & Agreement, acknowledging the 
relocation, its purpose and the site to which the Confederate Monument will be 
relocated fully comply with N.C. General Statute Section 100-2.1, and in all respects 
concluding the case and dismissing any other claims, the Town, at its expense, will 
remove the Confederate Monument to include the bronze statute and pedestal, the 
tripartite carved stone shaft, the muti-tiered carved stone base, its existing foundation, 
surrounding brick square, four flag-poles and ground lighting from its present 
location on South Broad Street, relocate same to its new location on the grounds of 
the existing Chowan County Courthouse in the open space between the Chowan 
County Jail Building and the War Memorial as identified by the County on Exhibit A 
hereto, and re-erect same at its new location in accordance with the 
presentation/placement plan determined by the County. 

2. Upon the date of delivery of the Confederate Monument to its new location on the 
County's grounds at the existing Chowan County Courthouse, the Town will deliver a 
bill of sale or similar document transferring and conveying all right, title and interest 
the Town may have in the Confederate Monument to the County. By accepting the 
bill of sale or similar document the County agrees to keep and maintain the 
Confederate Monument in compliance with all federal and state laws and regulations. 

3. Once delivered and re-erected by the Town as agreed herein, the County assumes any 
and all obligations with respect to the maintenance and landscaping of the 
Confederate Monument. 

4. This is the complete Memorandum of Understanding & Agreement between the 
Town and the County. This Memorandum of Understanding & Agreement may not 
be modified or amended except in writing signed by the Town and the County. 

 

A motion was made by Councilman Bond and seconded by Councilman Coston and passed 
unanimously (6-0). 

Chair Kirby opened the floor for discussion from the Board of Commissioners. 

Commissioner Kehayes asked if the location of the relocation is set or is there any flexibility. 

Chairman Kirby noted the proposed location on the attached is approximate for the general 
location. 

Commissioner McLaughlin noted there is no design, he asked when the 30 day clock starts for 
the relocation. 

Mayor High stated that when the dismissal is filed the plaintiff attorney and the Town will sign 
off and both parties will go before the judge.  He stated that this will happen once both parties 
agree and execute the document. 



Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the MOU as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all 
in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

Councilman Bond moved to adjourn the special meeting of the Council. Councilman Coston 
seconded the motion. Mayor High asked for all in favor the motion passed unanimously (6-0). 

Commissioner Cummings moved to adjourn the special meeting of the Commissioners. Chair 
Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 

 

__________________________________   _____________________________ 

Bob Kirby, Chairman      Susanne Stallings, Clerk 

 



 
 

Gathering 
Monday, December 2, 2024 

5:00 pm 
Chowan County Public Safety Center 

305 West Freemason Street 
 

Commissioners and Commissioner Elect Shaffer gathered for a meet and greet.  
No business was discussed. 

 
Regular Meeting 

Monday, December 2, 2024 
Chowan County Public Safety Center 

305 West Freemason Street 
6:00pm 

 
This meeting was recorded. A copy of the recording is in the meeting file labeled December 2, 
2024. 
 
Present: Chair Bob Kirby, Commissioners, Tray Taylor, Ron Cummings, Larry McLaughlin and 
Alex Kehayes, Ellis Lawrence and Chris Evans. 
 
Commissioner Elect Tony Shaffer was also present. 
 
Staff present County Manager Kevin Howard, County Attorney Lauren Arizaga-Womble,  
Finance Officer Cathy Smith and Board Clerk Susanne Stallings. 
 
Regular Meeting 
Chair Kirby called the regular meeting to order and led all in the pledge of allegiance.  
 
Chairman Kirby then offered the invocation. 
 
Approval of Draft Agenda 
Ms. Stallings noted a request to amend the agenda to add one additional budget amendment (BA 
2025-029). 
 
Commissioner Kehayes moved to approve the agenda as amended. Chair Kirby asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Employee Recognition Ceremony 
The following County Employees were recognized for years of service. 
 
2019 - 5 Year Anniversary 
Wendy Burge                                      EMS 
Christopher Elsbree                             Land Records   
Lashauna McNeil                                DSS 
Tabitha Martin                                    EMS 



Elisha Nixon                                       Water 
M “Davis” Todd                                 Maintenance 
Nicholas Tynch                                  Water 
Herman Weiss                                    Central Communications 
Jennifer Whitehurst                            EMS 
 
2014 – 10 Year Anniversary 
Carol Copeland                                   Register of Deeds 
Kevin Howard                                    Admin 
Holly Pierce                                        Sheriff 
Justin Saez                                          Sheriff 
Sharon Valentine                                Tax 
 
2009 – 15 Year Anniversary 
Colin Ryan                                          EMS 
 
2004 – 20 Year Anniversary 
Shelia Russell                                      Sheriff 
 
1999 – 25 Year Anniversary 
Brian Chappell                                    Recreation 
Kenneth Pierce                                    Inspections 
Keri Thrasher                                      Central Communications 
 
Retirement Recognition 
Sharon Armstead                                Recreation 
Teresa Johnson                                   Tax 
Terrence Meyers                                 Elections 
Donald Wheeler                                  Maintenance 

Commissioner Recognition Ceremony 

Commissioner Alex Kehayes was recognized for his service as Chowan County Commissioner 

For the years 2012-2016 and 2020-2024.  
 

Follow the recognition ceremony and remarks, Commissioner Kehayes remarked on his service 
as a County Commissioner and then left the meeting area, Commissioners Elect were called 
forward to receive the oath of office. 
 
Administration of Oaths of Office 
Clerk to the Board, Susanne Stallings then administered the oath of office to the following 
Commissioners Elect: 

- Chris Evans 
- Ron Cummings 
- Tony Shaffer 
- Tray Taylor 

 



Organizational Meeting 
Election of Chair 
Board Clerk Susanne Stallings noted that in accordance with NCGS § 153A-39 (2) the Board of 
Commissioners must, at its first regular meeting in December of each even-numbered year, 
choose one of its members as chairman for the ensuing year. Board Clerk, Susanne Stallings, 
moderated the organizational meeting for the election of the Chairman.  She then opened the 
floor for nominations for Chair. 
 
Commissioner Evans nominated Commissioner Kirby to serve as the Chair for 2025.   
 
Being no further nominations Ms. Stallings closed the floor. She asked for all in favor, the 
motion passed (7-0). She then passed the gavel to Chair Kirby. 
 
Election of Vice Chair 
Chair Kirby noted that in accordance with NCGS § 153A-39 (2) the Board of Commissioners 
must also choose one of its members as Vice Chairman for the ensuing year, he opened the floor 
for nominations. 
 
Commissioner Cummings nominated Commissioner McLaughlin.  
 
Commissioner Taylor nominated Commissioner Evans. 
 
There were no other nominations. Chair Kirby asked for a motion to close nominations. 
Commissioner Evans moved to close the nominations, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Chair Kirby noted that Board members should only vote once for a nominee. 
 
Chair Kirby then asked for all in favor of Commissioner McLaughlin, the motion passed (6-1 
Taylor). Being a majority Commissioner McLaughlin was elected as Vice Chair for 2025. 
 
2025 Meeting Schedule 
Chair Kirby noted that accordance with NCGS § 153A-40 (a) the Board shall approve a meeting 
schedule for 2025.  
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the draft meeting schedule as presented. Chair 
Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Cancel December Meeting 
Chair Kirby noted that the Board will discuss the December 16, 2024 meeting. Historically this 
meeting has been cancelled for the Holiday if there is no pressing business.  
 
Commissioner Taylor moved to cancel the December 16, 2024 meeting. Chair Kirby asked for 
all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Public Comment 
Chair Kirby opened the floor for public comment. 
 



Michael Dean, 100 Emperor Landing Road presented the Board with a proposal for free speech 
zones in the County. 
Consent Agenda  
All items on the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine and may be enacted by one 
motion. If a County Commissioner requests discussion on an item, the item will be removed 
from the Consent Agenda and considered separately. 
 

a. Tax Refund/Release Report 
Pappas, M.  127.90  Overpayment 

 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the consent agenda as presented. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0) 
 
 
Resolution Certifying Results of the 2024 Referendum for General Obligation Bonds and 
Providing for Publication of Notice Thereof 
The Board will consider approval of a resolution certifying the results of the Recreation Bond 
Referendum which was held on November 5, 2024. The resolution certifies that a majority of 
those voting in the referendum voted “No” for approval of the Bond Order and declares the 
referendum has failed and that the bond order will not take effect. The resolution authorizes the 
Clerk to publish this statement in the Chowan Herald. 
 

Chairman Kirby introduced the following resolution, the title of which was read: 

RESOLUTION CERTIFYING RESULTS OF 2024 
REFERENDUM FOR GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS AND  
PROVIDING FOR PUBLICATION OF NOTICE THEREOF 

WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners (the “Board”) of the County of Chowan, North 
Carolina, (the “County”) desires to certify and declare the results of the referendum held November 
5, 2024; 

NOW THEREFORE, the Board, meeting in regular session on December 2, 2024, does the 
following: 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FOR THE COUNTY OF 
CHOWAN, NORTH CAROLINA: 

1. The Board hereby certifies and declares the result of the referendum held on 
November 5, 2024, with respect to the proposed $15,000,000 General Obligation Bonds, to be 
2,359 votes of “Yes” for approval of the Bond Order and 4,382 votes of “No” for approval of the 
Bond Order. 

2. Because a majority of those voting in the referendum voted “No” for approval of 
the Bond Order, the Board hereby certifies and declares that the referendum has failed, and the 
Bond Order entitled “BOND ORDER AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF GENERAL 
OBLIGATION BONDS OF THE COUNTY OF CHOWAN IN THE MAXIMUM 
AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF $15,000,000 FOR THE PURPOSE OF 



FINANCING, IN PART, THE ACQUISITION, CONSTRUCTION AND EQUIPPING OF 
PARKS AND RECREATION FACILITIES IN THE COUNTY” will not take effect. 

3. The Clerk to this Board shall cause the statement, in substantially the form hereto 
attached as Exhibit A, to be published in the Chowan Herald and filed in the Clerk’s Office.   

4. This resolution shall take effect immediately. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

Commissioner Cummings moved the passage of the foregoing resolution, and the 
resolution was passed by the following vote: 

Ayes:   7           

Nays:   0           

Not Voting:  N/A           

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
RESULT OF REFERENDUM ON $15,000,000 

COUNTY OF CHOWAN, NORTH CAROLINA 
GENERAL OBLIGATION PARKS AND RECREATION BONDS 

 
The result of the referendum held on November 5, 2024: 

Results 
 Yes No 

Chowan County 2,359 4,382 

 

for the County of Chowan, North Carolina (the “County”) on the issuance of the County’s General 

Obligation Parks and Recreation Bonds in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed 

$15,000,000 to be issued for the purpose of financing, in part, the acquisition, construction and 

equipping of parks and recreation facilities in the County was 2,359 votes of “Yes” and 4,382 

votes of “No” for approval of such bonds and therefore the Bond Order will not take effect. 

 Any action or proceeding challenging the regularity or validity of this bond referendum 

must be begun within 30 days after the date of December 7, 2024, the date this notice was 

published. 



BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

COUNTY OF CHOWAN, NORTH CAROLINA 

[To be published as soon as possible after December 2, 2024.] 

 

Sheriff Items 
Personnel Request 
Sheriff Edward Basnight provided the Board with a request to create a full time position to 
train for 11 months under the Administrative Office Manager prior to their retirement in 
December 2025. He stated that the salary and benefits would be up to $45,000.  
 
Commissioner Evans moved to approve the request as presented. He asked if this is included in 
the current budget. 
 
Ms. Smith noted that fund balance would have to be appropriated for this request. 
 
Chair Kirby stated that 12 months seems like a long time for training however he looks for the 
Sheriff to manage his department as he sees fit.  He stated he respects the Sheriff and knows 
that he will not waste any resources. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Interview Room Equipment 
Sheriff Basnight presented the Board with a request from for approval of a contract with 
MaestroVision for equipment for the interview room. He stated that previous concerns from the 
IT Department have been addressed by this contractor to ensure that the equipment will work 
with existing equipment.  He stated that this equipment is what is required. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer asked if other local jurisdictions are using this equipment. 
 
He stated that Chief Deputy has visited other jurisdictions who use this equipment.  
 
Commissioner Shaffer moved to approve the contract as presented. 
 
Commissioner Cummings asked about any annual support costs included in the contract. 
 
Ms. Smith noted that this request will be funded with ARPA funds. 
 
Ms. Womble stated she would like to review the contract. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer requested to amend his motion to also allow the County Attorney the 
ability to review and approve the contract. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 



DSS Personnel Request  
DSS Director Tyeshia Phelps provided the Board with a request for permission to hire a part 
time position to begin working in February 2025 to assist with training, mentoring and fiscal 
planning in the Administrative Office of DSS. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer asked how will the position be funded. 
 
Ms. Phelps stated the position will be funded using lapse salary. She stated the request is for 
$30 per hour for 20 hour per week. 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to approve the request as presented.  
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor of the motion, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Courthouse Lease Extension 
The County Manager requested authority from the Board to extend the lease for one month of 
the temporary courtroom space, if additional time is needed following the completion of the 
courtroom renovation and the move of the courtroom furniture over the month of December.  
 
Commissioner Taylor moved to approve the request as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Appointment 
Voluntary Ag District Board 
Matt Floyd is eligible and interested in being reappointed to the Voluntary Ag District Board. 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to reappoint Matt Floyd as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
Financial Items 
Finance Officer Cathy Smith presented the following: 
 
Budget Amendment 
BA-2025-026 



 
 
BA2025-027 

 
 

JAHHS Replacement Project Fund
NBPSCF Grant 38,418,175.11      
Fund Balance Appropriated 35,591,212.74      
Architect - Basic Services 386,400.00          
Architect - Additional Services 15,618.75             
Architect - Reimbursed Services 267.35                   
Inspections 470,950.75          
Construction Loan Closing Costs 68.13                     
Permanent Loan Closing Costs 50,000.00             
Legal Services 10,667.00             
Advertising 4,629.25               
Construction Costs 63,190,789.07    
Equipment FF&E 1,000,000.00       
Technology 1,000,000.00       
Construction Loan Interest 1,601,526.91       
Other - Misc 23,735.08             
Contingency 6,254,735.56       

Balanced 74,009,387.85      74,009,387.85    

Justification:

45-3811-365-00
45-3990-990-00

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

45-5913-192-02
45-5913-194-00
45-5913-194-01

45-5913-191-00
45-5913-191-01
45-5913-191-02

45-5913-199-00
45-5913-370-00
45-5913-441-00
45-5913-510-00
45-5913-520-00
45-5913-720-00
45-5913-998-00
45-5913-999-00

To amend the budget for JAHHS Replacement Project to carry forward 
project balances at 06/30/24.

JAHHS Replacement Project Fund
Inspections (160,000.00)         
Construction Loan Closing Costs (68.13)                   
Construction Costs 702,534.48          
Contingency (542,466.35)         

Balanced -                           -                         

Justification:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

45-5913-192-02
45-5913-194-00
45-5913-441-00
45-5913-999-00

To amend the budget for JAHHS Replacement Project to include 
change orders for project reported by Finance Officer at meeting 

dated 11/18/24.  This is a transfer between line items.



 
BA2025-028 

 
 
 
BA2025-029 

Fund Balance Appropriated 32,915.00               

Salaries 22,500.00             
Fica 1,721.00               
Retirement 3,060.00               
Health Insurance 5,634.00               

Balanced 32,915.00               32,915.00             

Justification:

To amend the budget for Sheriff's Office to include new full-time position 
for training of Administrative Assistant.  This amendment includes 

salaries and benefits from January - June 2025.

Fund Balance
11-3990-990-00

Sheriff's Office
11-4310-121-00
11-4310-181-00
11-4310-182-00
11-4310-183-00

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 



 
 
 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the budget amendment as presented. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Financial Report – October 
A copy of the report is in the  meeting file labeled December 2, 2024. 
 
Capital Project Ordinance Amendment – ARPA Fund 
BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of County Commissioners of the County of Chowan, North Carolina that the 
ARP/CSLFRF grant project ordinance adopted on June 21, 2021 is hereby amended as follows: 

Section 2: The following amounts previously appropriated for the project and authorized for expenditure are 
hereby assigned to the following expenditure categories: 

Transfer from ARPA Fund 44,667.00               

Capital Outlay - Equipment (25,000.00)           
Maint & Repairs - Equipment 69,667.00             

Capital Outlay - Vehicle 29,000.00             

Capital Outlay - Vehicle (29,000.00)           

Transfer from ARPA Fund 21,730.00               
Capital Outlay - Equipment 21,730.00             

Balanced 66,397.00               66,397.00             

Justification:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Transfers In
11-3980-980-27

11-4270-352-00
Recreation

11-6130-550-00

11-8200-550-00

60-3980-980-27
60-4370-510-00

EMS

Central Services

Central Comm
11-4270-510-00

To amend the budget to include ARPA transfers to the General Fund and 
EMS.



 
 
Section 4:  The Finance Officer is hereby directed to maintain sufficient specific detailed accounting records to 
satisfy the requirements of the grantor agency and the grant agreements, including payroll documentation and 
effort certifications, in accordance with 2 CFR 200.430 & 2 CFR 200.431 and the Town’s Uniform Guidance 
Allowable Costs and Cost Principles Policy. 

 
Commissioner Cummings moved to approve the ordinance as presented. Chair Kirby asked for 
all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Commissioner Appointment 
Chair Kirby stated that the Board is being provided with a list of the current 2024 Commissioner 
Appointments. It is in order for the Board members to be appointed to external boards and 



committees at the January 2025 meeting. Board members are asked to review the list and provide 
the clerk with any requests for changes to appointments no later than 12/30/24. 
 
External Board/Committee Report 
Board members are asked to report on the activities of the external boards to which they have 
been appointed.  
 
Commissioner McLaughlin reported on the Destination Downtown Edenton Board that has been 
rebranded to Main Street Edenton. 
 
Chair Kirby reported there has been a change in management at the Albemarle Commission. 
 
Manager’s Report 
County Manager Kevin Howard updated the Board on the following: 
 
Chowan County has moved to Tier II in a recent ranking update 
 
Timely and Important Matters  
Commissioner Evans thanked staff for their work and a great year. 
 
Chair Kirby encouraged all in attendance to continue to pray for our neighbors in the western 
part of North Carolina still dealing with the effects of Hurricane Helene. 
 
Adjourn 
Being no further business, Commissioner Evans moved that the meeting be adjourned. Chair 
Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________________  ______________________________ 
Bob Kirby, Chairman      Susanne Stallings, Clerk 

 



 
Chowan County Board of Commissioners 

Opioid Settlement Funds Committee 
Meeting 

Monday, December 5, 2024 
Chowan County Public Safety Center 

305 West Freemason Street 
4:00pm 

 
 
Present: Committee Chair Tray Taylor, County Manager Kevin Howard, Finance Officer Cathy 
Smith, Trillium Health Vice President Bobbie Lowe, EMS Director Colin Ryan, Sheriff Edward 
Basnight, DSS Director Tyeshia Phelps, Edenton Chowan Schools Rep Virginia Jones and 
Health Department Deputy Director Amy Underhill. 
 
Ex Officio Members Board Clerk Susanne Stallings and Julie Tunney, NENC Partnership for 
Public Health were also present. 
 
Absent: Edenton Town Councilman Aaron Coston 
 
Call to order 
Chairman Tray Taylor called the committee meeting to order.   
 
Committee Discussion on ideas for use of Chowan Settlement Funds and Next Steps 
County Manager Kevin Howard provided the Committee with an overview of the settlement 
funds. He noted that Chowan County is to receive approximately $1.3 million over an 18 year 
period. He reviewed the PowerPoint presentation from the October 28th meeting that was put 
together by the North Carolina Association of County Commissioners to assist Counties in 
selection of means for spending the opioid settlement funds.  
 
Mr. Howard stated that he feels a best use of the funds in Chowan County would be to create a 
position within EMS. He stated that he will further research what other Counties are doing. He 
stated that after doing this research as well as he and the Finance Officer attending the Opioid 
Conference he would have a better idea or recommendation for the Committee.  
 
EMS Director Colin Ryan indicated that he may also attend the conference.  
 
Ms. Lowe and Ms. Underhill shared what Pasquotank and Currituck are doing with regards to 
hiring a coordinator. They noted that Gates County is also looking into this recommendation.  
 
Mr. Howard stated he included DSS in the Committee to see if DSS would provide insight into 
needs that are presented at Chowan DSS. He stated one means for use of the money was 
assistance with utility bills and this method is one of the strategies that are recommended. 
 
Ms. Phelps stated that DSS currently has clients who are impacted by opioid addiction. She 
stated that her department often refers these clients to Trillium for additional resources. 



 
Mr. Howard reviewed the list of high impact abatement strategies that are provided by the 
NCACC (comments are listed below each). 
 

• Collaborative Strategic Planning – A structured process to identify the best 
strategies for local governments to fund identified needs 
- Chowan is already doing this 

• Evidence-based addiction treatment – increase access to medications for Opioid 
Use Disorder (MOUD) 
This may require a grant program, however there may not be enough funds to 
sustain this program. 

• Recovery support, housing, employment and prevention 
The County may be able to assist with transportation for these programs or 
provide utility assistance. Ms. Underhill suggested that the County look into 
seeing if there is a local provider interested in providing this type of care. 
 
It was noted that the monies would be under $50,000 per year and the funds 
would be depleted quickly. 
 

• Recovery Housing Support (provide housing for people who use drugs, provide 
emergency rent and utilities assistance or provide housing to people who are 
unhoused 
Concern with funds and program sustainability. 

• Employment Support – Fund programs offering employment support services to 
people in treatment or recovery or persons who use drugs 

• Early Intervention – Identify risk factors, increase proactive factors and intervene 
on root causes. 
This would require assistance from the school system to identify youth impacted 
by opioid addiction in the home. 

• Naloxone Distribution – makes this medication widely available 
This is already in place, Trillium provides the County with distributions of 
Naloxone. 

• Post Overdose Response – creation of a position or team that follows up with 
individuals post overdose and provide connections to care and referrals. 
This could be the program within EMS. 

• Syringe Services Programs 
Any neighboring counties doing these programs are utilizing other funds. 

• Criminal Legal System Diversion Programs 
Sheriff Basnight discussed programs in place, he stated that there are some area 
judges who may be interested in forming these types of programs. 

• Medications for Opioid Use Disorder for persons in jail or prison. 
Chowan County Detention Center currently relies on telehealth visits and medical 
contract. 

• Reentry Programs 
Mr. Howard noted that a regional council has recently been formed and Chowan 
is a participating member on this council. 



 
Mr. Howard suggested that committee members along with himself research what options are a 
best fit for Chowan. He stated he will bring back an outline to a future meeting to assist the 
committee with forming a recommendation. 
 
Next Meeting 
It was decided that the next Opioid Settlement Funds Committee Meeting would mid to late 
February. 
 
Adjourn 
Being no further business, Sheriff Basnight moved that the meeting be adjourned. Chairman 
Taylor asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (10-0). 
 
 

 

 
_______________________________________  ______________________________ 
Tray Taylor, Chairman      Susanne Stallings, Clerk 

 

 



Committee/Board Name Chair's Appointeee in 2024 2025 Appointments

Town/County Relations Chair and Vice Chair Chair and Vice Chair

Legislative Liaison Chair Chair  
TDA (Tourism Development Authority) Evans Evans 

Main Street Edenton (Formerly, 
Destination Downtown Edenton) McLaughlin McLaughlin 

Social Services (DSS Board) Kehayes Shaffer
Trillium Mental Health Regional Board Kehayes Shaffer

Solid Waste Authority (ARSWMA) Cummings Cummings
Landfill Board (PCG) Cummings, Evans Cummings, Evans

Health Department Board (ARHS) Kehayes Shaffer
Hospital Local Directors Council Kehayes Shaffer

Recreation Advisory Board Taylor Taylor

Albemarle Commission Board of Directors Kirby Kirby
Albemarle Commission RPO McLaughlin McLaughlin 

Albemarle Commission RPO Alternate Lawrence Lawrence

Northeast Workforce Development Board Taylor Taylor
Airport Lawrence Lawrence

Board of Education Liasion Chair Chair

College of the Albemarle Board (COA)
Patti Kersey (term expires 6/30/27)                                       

Ellis Lawrence Patti Kersey & Ellis Lawrence
Senior Center Advisory Board Lawrence McLaughlin 

Three Rivers Healthy Carolinians Evans Evans 
Voluntary Agricultural District Board Cummings Cummings

Animal Shelter Advisory Board Cummings Cummings

Albemarle Resource Conservation and 
Development Council (ARC&D) Taylor

# of appointments reduced by 
bylaw amendment, only 

appointing a County Resident 

Juvenile Crime Prevention Council (JCPC) Taylor Taylor
Local Emergency Planning Committee 

(LEPC) Kehayes Shaffer

Edenton Chowan Partnership (ECP) Kirby, McLaughlin, Patti Kersey Kirby, McLauhglin, Patti Kersey
ABC Board Liason Chair Chair

John A. Holmes Highschool Replacement 
Committee Kirby, Cummings, McLaughlin No longer Meeting

2025 Chowan County Board of Commissioners
Board and Committee Assignments



Committee/Board Name Chair's Appointeee in 2024 2025 Appointments

2025 Chowan County Board of Commissioners
Board and Committee Assignments

Jail Study Committee Kehayes, Cummings Shaffer, Cummings

Capital Improvement Plan Committee (CIP) McLaughlin, Cummings, Lawrence McLaughlin, Cummings,Shaffer

Cooperative Extension Advisory Leadership Mclaughlin McLaughlin
Chowan C.A.R.E.S. Kirby Taylor

ARPA Committee Kehayes, Cummings, Lawrence No longer Meeting
Animal Control Committee on Dangerous 
Dog Determination McLaughlin McLaughlin

Water Rate Study Committee Cummings, McLaughlin Cummings, McLaughlin
Opioid Settlement Funds Committee Taylor Taylor
Local Re-entry Council McLaughlin























To: Board of County Commissioners BA #: 2025-030

From: Cathy Smith, Finance Officer

Date:

RE: Water Fund - Land Purchase

Fund Balance Appropriated - Water Fund 223,811.19             
Capital Outlay - Land 223,811.19           

Balanced 223,811.19             223,811.19           

Justification:

Approval Date:

Bd. Clerk's Init:

Initials:

Batch #:

Date:

61-3990-990-00

Chowan County 
BUDGET AMENDMENT

December 6, 2024

Please authorize the finance officer to amend the 2025 budget for Water Fund as follows:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Water

61-7120-570-00

To amend the budget for the Water Fund to include land purchases for the RO 
test well sites.  The property addresses include 619 Poplar Neck Rd., 301 

Poplar Neck Rd., and 627 Haughten Rd.  The purchases are being made using 
Fund Balance from the Water Fund.



To: FYI - Board of Commissioners MBA #: 2025-031

From: Cathy Smith, Finance Officer

Date:

RE: Discretionary Income

*Preservation/Automation 633.48                     
*Dept Supplies - Auto/Pres 211.16                   
*Contr Svcs - Automation/Pres 211.16                   
*C/O - Auto / Pres 211.16                   

*Sheriff Donations 150.00                     
*Donation - Expense 150.00                   

*Donations - Chowan 257.00                     
*Donations - Gates 752.00                     
*Donations - Perquimans 99.00                       
*Donations - Other 102.00                     
*Donation - Expense 1,210.00                
*Adoption - Chowan 700.00                     
*Adoption - Gates 200.00                     
*Adoption - Perquimans 610.00                     
*Adoption - Other 1,175.00                 
*Contr Svcs - Spay/Neuter 2,685.00                

*SHIIP Grant (Senior Health Insurance Information 
Program) 3,810.00                 
*SHIIP Grant (Senior Health Insurance Information 
Program) 3,810.00                
*AG Program Fees Discretionary 471.26                     
*Ag Program Fees Discretionary 471.26                   
*4-H Fees Discretionary 3,713.00                 
*4-H Fees Discretionary 3,713.00                

*Recreation Donations 1,025.00                 
*Donations - Dept Supplies 1,025.00                
*Recreation Special Events 345.00                     
*Recreation Special Events 345.00                   

11-3612-504-00
11-6132-453-00

Recreation
11-3612-487-00
11-6130-299-01

11-3495-378-00
11-4953-448-00

11-3495-370-00
11-4953-440-00

Cooperative Ext:

11-3495-363-00

11-4950-600-00

11-4381-600-00
11-3438-895-00
11-3438-895-01
11-3438-895-02
11-3438-895-03
11-4381-441-00

Animal Shelter
11-3438-894-00
11-3438-894-01
11-3438-894-02
11-3438-894-03

Sheriff's Office
11-3431-232-00
11-4317-440-00

Register of Deeds
11-3418-415-00
11-4180-298-00
11-4180-440-00
11-4180-511-00

Chowan County 
MANAGEMENT BUDGET AMENDMENT

December 9, 2024

Please authorize the finance officer to amend the 2025 budget as follows:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 



  

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

*Reg Fees - Trips 2,218.00                 
*TRIPS - Senior Citizens 2,218.00                
*Registration Fees Activities 85.00                       
*Activities - Dept. Supplies 85.00                     
*Silver Sneakers 864.00                     
*Silver & Fit 72.00                       
*Renew Active 705.00                     
*Healthways 1,641.00                
*Donations - Fitness 105.00                     
*Donations - Fitness 105.00                   

*DSS Special Events 150.00                     
*DSS Special Events 150.00                   

Balanced 18,241.74               18,241.74             

Total Discretionary Income Received FYE 2025 138,614.42             

Justification:

Approval Date:

Bd. Clerk's Init:

Initials:

Batch #:

Date:

12-3531-230-14
12-5310-450-00

To amend the 2025 budget to include Discretionary income for November 2024.

DSS

11-3616-535-05
11-3616-535-06
11-4268-352-02
11-3616-535-01
11-4268-352-01

11-3616-533-00
11-4268-312-00
11-3616-533-01
11-4268-299-01
11-3616-535-04

Senior Center



To: FYI - Board of County Commissioners MBA #: 2025-032

From: Cathy Smith, Finance Officer

Date:

RE: Insurance Proceeds

Insurance Proceeds 2,866.90                 

Maint & Repairs - Vehicles 2,866.90               

Balanced 2,866.90                 2,866.90               

Justification:

Approval Date:

Bd. Clerk's Init:

Initials:

Batch #:

Date:

11-4310-353-00

Chowan County 
MANAGEMENT BUDGET AMENDMENT

December 20, 2024

Please authorize the finance officer to amend the 2025 budget as follows:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Insurance Proceeds
11-3493-890-00

Sheriff's Office

To amend the budget to include Insurance Proceeds for Sheriff's Office for 
MVA on 12/01/24.



To: Board of County Commissioners BA #: 2025-033

From: Tyeshia Phelps, DSS Director
Cathy Smith, Finance Officer

Date:

RE: Social Services

Salaries - Regular (6,000.00)              
Salaries - Part-time 6,000.00               

Balanced -                           -                         

Justification:

Approval Date:

Bd. Clerk's Init:

Initials:

Batch #:

Date:

To amend the budget for Social Services to include temporary part-time 
position to provide training to a new Administrative Officer.  This is a transfer 

between line items and no additional funding is being requested.

12-5310-126-00
12-5310-121-00

Chowan County 
BUDGET AMENDMENT

December 10, 2024

Please authorize the finance officer to amend the 2025 budget for Social Services as follows:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

DSS



To: FYI - Board of County Commissioners MBA #: 2025-034

From: Cathy Smith, Finance Officer

Date:

RE: Emergency Medical Services - Grant

HSGP 2024 - UTV Grant - Rev 105,000.00             
HSGP 2024 - UTV Grant - Exp 105,000.00           

Balanced 105,000.00             105,000.00           

Justification:

Approval Date:

Bd. Clerk's Init:

Initials:

Batch #:

Date:

To amend the budget to include Homeland Security Grant received for EMS 
for purchase of Utility Terrain Vehicle (UTV) and transport trailer.  The grant 

application was approved by the BOCC on 10/3/22.

EMS
60-3437-417-00
60-4370-602-00

Chowan County 
MANAGEMENT BUDGET AMENDMENT

December 23, 2024

Please authorize the finance officer to amend the 2025 budget for EMS as follows:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 



To: FYI - Board of County Commissioners MBA #: 2025-035

From: Cathy Smith, Finance Officer

Date:

RE: Water Department - Carry forward for ARPA

Transfer from ARPA Fund 189,705.30             
RO Plant - Test Well Construction 46,032.09             
RO Plant - WTP Pilot Study 143,673.21           

Balanced 189,705.30             189,705.30           

Justification:

Approval Date:

Bd. Clerk's Init:

Initials:

Batch #:

Date:

Chowan County 
MANAGEMENT BUDGET AMENDMENT

December 23, 2024

Please authorize the finance officer to amend the 2025 budget for Water as follows:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Water Dept
61-3980-980-27
61-7120-595-00

To amend the budget for the Water Fund to include carry-forward balance 
from 2024 for ARPA fund.  BOC appropriated $1,000,000 in ARPA funds  for 
RO Plant Construction.  $810,294.70 was transferred from ARPA fund in FY 

2024.

Carry-Forward Balances

61-7120-595-01



To: Board of County Commissioners BA #: 2025-036

From: Cathy Smith, Finance Officer

Date:

RE: Water Department - Magette Well

Fund Balance Appropriated - Water 133,126.79             
RO Plant - WTP Pilot Study 133,126.79           

Balanced 133,126.79             133,126.79           

Justification:

Approval Date:

Bd. Clerk's Init:

Initials:

Batch #:

Date:

Water Dept
61-3990-990-00
61-7120-595-01

Chowan County 
BUDGET AMENDMENT

December 23, 2024

Please authorize the finance officer to amend the 2025 budget for Water as follows:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

To amend the budget for the Water Fund to include contract for Magette Well 
for RO Pilot Study.  BOCC approved contract with Magette on 06/03/24.  

Contract is $276,800.00 and is partially being paid with ARPA funds.



To: Board of County Commissioners BA #: 2025-037

From: Cathy Smith, Finance Officer

Date:

RE: Capital Projects - Courthouse Renovations

Transfer from Capital Reserve 38,557.00               
Courthouse Renovations 38,557.00             

Fund Balance Appropriated - Cap Res 38,557.00               
Transfer to Capital Projects 38,557.00             

Balanced 77,114.00               77,114.00             

Justification:

Approval Date:

Bd. Clerk's Init:

Initials:

Batch #:

Date:

Chowan County 
BUDGET AMENDMENT

January 2, 2025

Please authorize the finance officer to amend the 2025 budget for Capital Projects as follows:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Capital Projects
32-3810-033-00
32-8100-457-00

Capital Reserve
33-3990-990-00
33-9800-980-32

To amend the budget for Capital Projects and Capital Reserve Funds to include 
change-order for furnishings for the Courthouse Renovations project (see 

attached change order from JKF Architecture).



Propose To: Shipping Location: Installation Location:

JKF ARCHITECTURE
625 LYNNDALE CT.
GREENVILLE, NC 27858

ABC MOVING & STORAGE
2011 STANTONSBURG RD
GREENVILLE, NC 27834

ABC MOVING & STORAGE
2011 STANTONSBURG RD
GREENVILLE, NC 27834

CHOWAN COUNTY COURTHOUSE

Comments:
*ALL ON STATE CONTRACT 5610A EXCEPT THE FIXED CHAIRS*

Item No. Item Description Qty Item Sell Ext Sell

Line: 1

OP3-31-
12-51-11

HICKORY CONTRACT FORMERLY HLC - General Furniture
Sales

Opus Series High back Chair with Panel arms - Uph cap.

Gr. 3 Naugasoft vinyl.

Tag1: JUDGE'S CHAIR

1 $1,134.36 $1,134.36

Line: 2

OP3-21-
12-32-11

HICKORY CONTRACT FORMERLY HLC - General Furniture
Sales

Opus Series Mid Back chair with Fixed Cantilever Arms &
Uph in Gr. 3 Naugasoft vinyl.

Tag1: Clerks(3), Attorneys(4), Conf Room(14)

21 $849.74 $17,844.54

Line: 3

GT4901E

JSI - General Furniture Sales

Gatsby Series Wood Chair with Clean-out, 

Uph: Ultrafabrics Brisa vinyl

Finish: Pilsner

Tag1: Guest(4) & Witness(1)

5 $574.65 $2,873.25

Line: 4

88-
48168BT-
G

INDIANA FURNITURE - General Furniture Sales

48"D x 168"W - 2 Piece Boat Top 

Finish: Sugar Maple laminate

Tag1: CONF ROOM

1 $1,376.16 $1,376.16

Line: 5

88-
24130RPB

INDIANA FURNITURE - General Furniture Sales

Rectangle Three Panel Base Unit, 

24"W x 130"L

Finish: Raven Laminate

Tag1: CONF ROOM

1 $1,461.70 $1,461.70

Misc Items......................................................................................................... ............$24,690.01

1 of 2

Sales Rep: Scott Seymour
scott@institutionalinteriors.com
919-981-5811 (phone)

ProposalCustomer: JKF ARCHITECTURE

24-3273
12/20/2024

Proposal valid thru 3/18/2025

Printed On: 12/20/2024 7:13 pm



JURY FIXED SEATS:

Item No. Item Description Qty Item Sell Ext Sell

Line: 6

EH-
5301BD

INSTITUTIONAL INTERIORS, INC - General Furniture Sales

Bolt Down Swivel Armchair. Upholstered with Stinson Lara
Black vinyl upholstery on seat. The back is slotted wood 1".

Overall Dimensions 23 1/2" Wide X 21

1/2" Deep X 33" To 36 3/4" High. 

Seat: W. 19 1/2" X 17 1/2"D.

Arm Height: 27 1/2". 

Seat Height: Approx. 25 1/2" To 28 3/4".

Tag1: Jury Seats

12 $885.88 $10,630.56

Line: 7

FREIGHT

INSTITUTIONAL INTERIORS, INC - Freight Fees

FREIGHT FOR FIXED CHAIRS

1 $714.00 $714.00

JURY FIXED SEATS.....................................................................................................$11,344.56

Subtotal..................................... ............$36,034.57

Tax............................................ ..............$2,522.42

Total Amount............................. ............$38,556.99

Thank you for the opportunity to provide this proposal. Please let us know if you have any questions. This proposal is good
for 60 days. 

Accepted by: Date: 

2 of 2

Customer: JKF ARCHITECTURE

Sales Rep: Scott Seymour  scott@institutionalinteriors.com
919-981-5811 (phone)

Proposal
24-3273
12/20/2024

Proposal valid thru 3/18/2025

Printed On: 12/20/2024 7:13 pm



To: FYI - Board of Commissioners MBA #: 2025-038

From: Cathy Smith, Finance Officer

Date:

RE: Solid Waste

Scrap Tire Tax Distribution - Rev 6,659.80                 
Scrap Tire Tax Distribution - Exp 6,659.80               
White Goods Tax Distribution - Rev 2,011.21                 
White Goods Tax Distribution - Exp 2,011.21               

Balanced 8,671.01                 8,671.01               

Justification:

Approval Date:

Bd. Clerk's Init:

Initials:

Batch #:

Date:

Chowan County 
MANAGEMENT BUDGET AMENDMENT

December 31, 2024

Please authorize the finance officer to amend the 2025 budget for Solid Waste as follows:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Solid Waste
62-3471-530-00
62-4710-694-00
62-3471-531-00
62-4710-695-00

To amend the 2025 budget for Solid Waste to include Scrap Tire and White 
Goods tax distributions.



To: FYI - Board of County Commissioners MBA #: 2025-039

From: Cathy Smith, Finance Officer

Date:

RE: E-911 Fund - Grant Carry-forward Balance

Capital Grant - Motorola 30,594.81               
Fund Balance Appropriated - E911 Fund 9,629.26                 
911 Motorola Radio Project 40,224.07             

Balanced 40,224.07               40,224.07             

Justification:

Approval Date:

Bd. Clerk's Init:

Initials:

Batch #:

Date:

Chowan County 
MANAGEMENT BUDGET AMENDMENT

January 2, 2025

Please authorize the finance officer to amend the 2025 budget for E-911 Fund as follows:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

24-4325-524-00

E-911 Fund
24-3431-360-00
24-3990-990-00

To amend the 2025 budget for E-911 Fund to carry forward 2024 balance for 
Motorola Radio Project grant.

Carry-Forward Balances



To: Board of County Commissioners BA #: 2025-040

From: Tyeshia Phelps, DSS Director
Cathy Smith, Finance Officer

Date:

RE: Social Services

Salaries - Regular (30,000.00)            
Prof Services - Temp Agency 30,000.00             

Balanced -                           -                         

Justification:

Approval Date:

Bd. Clerk's Init:

Initials:

Batch #:

Date:

12-5310-121-00

Chowan County 
BUDGET AMENDMENT

January 3, 2025

Please authorize the finance officer to amend the 2025 budget for Social Services as follows:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

DSS

12-5310-198-00

To amend the budget for Social Services to include additional service from 
Vanguard Professional Services (Temp Agency).  This is a transfer between line 

items and no additional funding is being requested.




